
CITY OF ALBION 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA 

Meetings:  First and Third Mondays – 7:00 p.m. 
 

City Council Chambers ♦ Second Floor ♦ 112 West Cass Street ♦ Albion, MI  49224 

 
 

REVISED  AGENDA  
 

COUNCIL MEETING 

Monday, June 3, 2019 

7:00 P.M. 
 

PLEASE TURN OFF CELL PHONES DURING MEETING 
 

I.  CALL TO ORDER 

 

II. MOMENT OF SILENCE TO BE OBSERVED 

 

III.  PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 

IV. ROLL CALL 

 

V. APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA (Includes any proposed additions, deletions or other 

changes to the agenda) 

 

VI. PRESENTATIONS AND RECOGNITIONS 

 

  A.  Project Rising Tide Update 

  B.   Battle Creek YMCA 

  C.  HUD Neighborhood Choice Program-Harmony Fierke 

                     

VII. PUBLIC HEARING-None 

          

VIII. PUBLIC COMMENTS (Persons addressing the City Council shall limit their  

  comments to agenda items only and to no more than three (3) minutes. Proper  

  decorum is required.) 

 

IX. CLOSED SESSION-The Labor Attorney requests a Closed Session under 

the Open Meetings Act (Section 15.268 (e), P.A. 267 of 1976, as 

amended) to consult with the City Attorney regarding trial or 

settlement strategy in connection with specific pending litigation. 

  

X. CONSENT CALENDAR (VV) (Items on Consent Calendar are voted on  

             as one unit) 

 

  A.  Approval Regular Session Minutes, May 20, 2019 

 B.  Approval Special Session Minutes, May 23, 2019 

     

XI. ITEMS FOR INDIVIDUAL DISCUSSION   

 

A.  Request Approval Seven (7) Medical Marihuana Grower Licenses 

for Greenhouse Farms, LLC 

 

COUNCIL-MANAGER 

GOVERNMENT 

 

Council members and 

other officials normally in 

attendance. 

 

 

David Atchison 

Mayor 

 

Vicky Clark 

Council Member 

1st Precinct 

 

Lenn Reid 

Council Member 

2nd Precinct 

 

Sonya Brown 

Mayor Pro-Tem 

Council Member 

3rd Precinct 

 

Marcola Lawler 
Council Member 

4th Precinct 

 

Jeanette Spicer 

Council Member  

5th Precinct   

 

Shane Williamson 

Council Member 

6th Precinct 

 

Scott Kipp 

Interim City Manager 

 

 The Harkness Law Firm 

Atty Cullen Harkness  

 

Jill Domingo 

City Clerk 

 

 
NOTICE FOR PERSONS WITH 

HEARING IMPAIR-MENTS 

WHO REQUIRE THE USE OF A 

PORTABLE LISTENING DEVICE   

 

Please contact the City 

Clerk’s office at 

517.629.5535 and a listening 

device will be provided 

upon notification.  If you 

require a signer, please 

notify City Hall at least five 

(5) days prior to the posted 

meeting time. 



CITY OF ALBION 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA 

Meetings:  First and Third Mondays – 7:00 p.m. 
 

City Council Chambers ♦ Second Floor ♦ 112 West Cass Street ♦ Albion, MI  49224 

 

B.  Request Approval 2nd Reading & Adoption Ordinance # 2019-04, 

An Ordinance to Amend Ordinance 58-161, Fireworks 

 

C.  Discussion/ Approval of Settlement Terms for Personnel Matter 

 

D.  Sidewalk Update 

 

E.  Update on Moving Expenses for Former City Manager 

  

F.   Discussion-Single Hauler Contract 

 

G.   Discussion Leaf Pick Up 

 

H.   Discussion Vaping Ordinance 

 

I.    Discussion-Trash Cans Along the Walking Trail 

 

J.     Discussion/Approval City Manager Recruitment Salary Range 

 

K.   Discussion North Street Improvement Project Update 

 

L.    Discussion Irwin Avenue Street Improvement Project Update 

 

M.   Discussion/Approval of Independent Investigation Scope of 

Work/Parameters 

 

N.  Request Approval Resolution # 2019-22, A Resolution to Support 

the “Transforming Albion” Project, under a HUD ‘Choice of 

Neighborhoods’ Grant Application; Authorizing to Enter into a 

Memorandum of Understanding with Michigan State University’s 

School of Planning, Design and Construction for the Grant 

Activities; and Authorizing a Firm Commitment of Local Cash 

Contribution to the Planning Phase of “Transforming Albion” 

 

XII.  FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS 

 

XIII. PUBLIC COMMENTS (Persons addressing the City Council shall limit    

             their comments to no more than three (3) minutes.  Proper decorum   

  is required). 

 

XIV.  CITY MANAGER REPORT 

 

XV.  MAYOR AND COUNCIL MEMBER COMMENTS 

 

XVI.  MOTION TO EXCUSE ABSENT COUNCIL MEMBER (S) 

 

XVII. ROLL CALL 



CITY OF ALBION 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA 

Meetings:  First and Third Mondays – 7:00 p.m. 
 

City Council Chambers ♦ Second Floor ♦ 112 West Cass Street ♦ Albion, MI  49224 

 

 

XVIII. ADJOURN 



 

 

Page 1 of 7                                                                             Council minutes/5-20-2019 

 

  

 

City of Albion 
Council Session Minutes  

May 20, 2019 

I. CALL TO ORDER 

Mayor Atchison called the regular meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 
 

II.  MOMENT OF SILENCE TO BE OBSERVED 
 
III.  PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 
IV.  ROLL CALL 

PRESENT: Vicky Clark (1), Lenn Reid (2); Sonya Brown (3), Marcola Lawler (4); 
Jeanette Spicer (5); Shane Williamson (6) and Mayor Atchison.   
 
ABSENT: All members were present. 
 
STAFF PRESENT: 
 
Scott Kipp, Acting City Manager/Chief Public Safety; Cullen Harkness, City 
Attorney; Jill Domingo, City Clerk; Kent Phillips, Acting Interim Public Services 
Director and John Tracy, Director Planning, Building & Code Enforcement and 
Haley Snyder, Acting Assistant City Manager/Deputy Clerk/Treasurer. 
 

V.  APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA (Includes any proposed additions, deletions or other 

changes to the agenda) 

 
Mayor Atchison asked for the Battle Creek YMCA presentation to be removed 
from the agenda. 

 
Council Member Brown asked for a correction on Item G/Date should be 11-
24/19. 

 

Williamson moved, Spicer supported, CARRIED, to Approve the Agenda with 
the above corrections. (7-0, vv) 

 

VI.   PRESENTATIONS 
 

A. Operation X 
 
Jakyri Chapman gave a brief overview of Operation X stating we need 
millennials to help serve the people, businesses and the community.  They 
will connect through resources and create innovative ideas.  The first event 



 

 

Page 2 of 7                                                                             Council minutes/5-20-2019 

 

  

 

will be held on Saturday, June 1, 2019 from 2:00-4:00 p.m. at the Ludington 
Center. 

 
B. Proclamation for May 2019 Mental Health Month 

 
Mayor Atchison read aloud the Proclamation for May 2019 Mental Health 
Month. 
 
Comments were received from Council Member Brown. 

 
C. Oath of Office-Officer Randi Lemaster 

 
City Clerk Domingo administered the Oath of Office to Public Safety Officer 
Randi Lemaster. 

 
Comments were received from Interim City Manager/Chief Public Safety 
Kipp. 
 

D. Battle Creek YMCA 
 
This item was removed from the agenda. 
 

VII.  PUBLIC HEARINGS-None  
   
VIII. PUBLIC Comments (Persons addressing the City Council shall limit their 

comments to agenda items and to no more than three (3) minutes.  Proper 
decorum is required.) 

 
Comments were received from David Warnsley, 1210 Maple St and Garrett 
Brown, 1016 S. Superior St. 
 

IX. CLOSED SESSION-The City Attorney requests a Closed Session under the 
Open Meetings Act (Section 15.268 (h), P.A. 267 of 1976, as amended) to 
consider material exempt from discussion or disclosure by state or federal 
statute. 

 
Brown moved, Clark supported, CARRIED to adjourn to Closed Session. (7-0, 
vv) 
 
Mayor Atchison adjourned to closed session at 7:10 p.m. 
 
Mayor Atchison re-convened the regular session at 7:21 p.m. 
 
ROLL CALL 



 

 

Page 3 of 7                                                                             Council minutes/5-20-2019 

 

  

 

PRESENT: Vicky Clark (1); Lenn Reid (2); Sonya Brown (3); Marcola Lawler (4); 
Jeanette Spicer (5); Shane Williamson (6) and Mayor Atchison.   
 
ABSENT: All members were present.  
 

X.  CONSENT CALENDAR (VV) Items on the Consent Calendar are voted on as 
one unit) 

 
A. Approval Special Session Minutes, April 23, 2019 
B. Approval Regular Session Minutes, May 6, 2019 
C. Approval Special Session Minutes, May 13, 2019 
D. Approval Fireworks Committee to Use Barnes Park and Riverside Cemetery 
    for the Albion Fireworks Viewing on July 3, 2019 with a Rain Date of July 5, 
    2019 
 
Williamson moved, Clark supported, CARRIED, to Approve the Consent 
Calendar as presented. (7-0, vv) 
 

XI.  ITEMS FOR INDIVIDUAL DISCUSSION 
 

 A. Request Approval Resolution # 2019-07, To Designate City Council Liaison to 
    Housing Commission 

 
Comments were received from Council Member Spicer and Mayor Atchison 
 
Council Member Spicer asked to amend Resolution # 2019-07 to Add Council 
Person from Precinct 1 or Other Council Designee. 
 
Spicer moved Lawler supported, CARRIED, to Amend Resolution # 2019-07 
to Add Council Person from Precinct 1 or Other Council Designee. (7-0, vv) 
 
Brown moved, Lawler supported, CARRIED to Approve Resolution # 2019-
07, To Designate City Council Liaison to Housing Commission with 
Amendment to Include Other Council Designee. (7-0, vv) 
 

B. Request Approval Resolution # 2019-20, To Recognize Friends of the Bohm 
as a Service Organization to Obtain a Charitable Gaming License from the 
State of Michigan 
 
Comments were received from Mayor Atchison. 
 

 Williamson moved, Reid supported, CARRIED to Approve for Resolution # 
2019-20, To Recognize Friends of the Bohm as a Service Organization to 
Obtain a Charitable Gaming License from the State of Michigan as presented.  

 (7-0, vv) 



 

 

Page 4 of 7                                                                             Council minutes/5-20-2019 

 

  

 

C. Request Approval Resolution # 2019-21, A Resolution to Approve 
Expenditure for Clark Street Pump # 2 

 
Comments were received from Acting Public Services Director Phillips and 
Mayor Atchison. 

 
Williamson moved, Clark supported, CARRIED to Approve Resolution # 
2019-21, A Resolution to Approve Expenditure for Clark Street Pump # 2 as 
presented. (7-0, rcv) 
 

D. Request Approval 1st Reading Ordinance # 2019-04, An Ordinance to Amend 
Ordinance 58-161, Fireworks 

 
Comments were received from City Attorney Harkness. 
 
**Correction was also made to Item E of the Ordinance changing Memorial 
Day to Labor Day. 
 
Reid moved, Williamson supported, CARRIED to Approve 1st Reading 
Ordinance # 2019-04, An Ordinance to Amend Ordinance 58-161, Fireworks 
with the above correction. (7-0, rcv) 
 

E. Request Approval of Mechanical Amusement Device for Cascarelli’s of Albion 
 

Comments were received from Council Members Spicer and Williamson and 
City Attorney Harkness. 

 
Williamson moved, Clark supported, CARRIED, To POSTPONE Approval of 
Mechanical Amusement Device for Cascarelli’s of Albion until a discussion on 
back taxes can be held. (7-0, vv) 
 

F. Discussion/Update of Master Plan for Maintaining Albion Streets 
 

Acting Director of Public Services Phillips stated the PACER Assessment will 
be done tomorrow and will assess the streets for the entire City and then 
assign a number from 1 to 10.  The Kalamazoo Transportation Authority will 
reimburse the cost of the assessment.   

 
Once the assessment is complete, a proposal will be drafted from Mickey 
Bittner, Wightman Associates for an actual road assessment based on the 
pacer assessment.  This should come to Council for approval at the next 
meeting. 

 
Acting Director Public Services Director Phillips also stated a list of needed 
equipment will also be provided to Council at the next meeting.  He stated 



 

 

Page 5 of 7                                                                             Council minutes/5-20-2019 

 

  

 

resources are limited so we must use the resources for the best of the entire 
City.  Irwin Avenue street project has not gone out for bid yet.  The MEDC is 
now requesting review of the plans before sending out for bids.   

 
The Asset Management Plans for Water, Sewer and Streets should be 
complete by the end of this year. 

 
Comments were received from Council Members Spicer, Clark and Brown 
and Mayor Atchison. 
 

G. Discussion/Approval of Investigator or RFQ for Investigation of ADPS 
Incident of 11/24/18 

 
Comments were received from Council Members Brown, Reid, Williamson, 
Lawler, Spicer and Clark; Mayor Atchison and City Attorney Harkness. 
 
Clark moved, Williamson supported, CARRIED, To Approve Law Firm Keller 
Toma to Investigate the ADPS Incident of 11-24-18. (4-3, rcv) (Brown, Lawler 
& Spicer dissenting). 

 

H. Discussion/Approval Schedule Study Session for Council Short & Long-Term 
Priority Goals 

 
Mayor Atchison stated he would like to schedule Study Sessions to Identify 
Policies, Initiatives & Obstacles for the City Council’s short and long-term 
goals.  He has spoken with the EDC Director Amy Deprez for a study session 
discussion on May 29, 2019 for a 2nd grocery store and senior/affordable 
housing. 
 
Council Member Williamson asked if the Council would be willing to have a 
Study Session an hour prior to regular Council meetings from 6:00 p.m. to 
7:00 p.m. 
 
Consensus of the Council is to schedule a Study Session for May 2019, 2019 
to discuss a 2nd grocery store and senior/affordable housing and to schedule 
a study session one hour prior to regular Council meetings for the remaining 
goal discussions. 

 
XII. FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS 
 

The following items were requested for the next agenda: 
 
Council Member Lawler asked for the following items: 

 Update on moving expenses for former City Manager 

 Trash Hauler contract 



 

 

Page 6 of 7                                                                             Council minutes/5-20-2019 

 

  

 

 Leaf-pickup 
 
Council Member Brown asked for trash cans along the walking trail. 
 
City Attorney Harkness asked to add a local vaping ordinance. 
 
Council Member Spicer asked for an update on rental certification. 
 

XIII. PUBLIC COMMENTS (Persons addressing the City Council shall limit their 
comments to no more than three (3) minutes.  Proper decorum is required.) 
 
Comments were received from Ayden Wade, Boy Scout Troop # 158; Lonnie 
Brewer, 1200 Hillside Rd; Fred Alexander, 208 Watson St; Garrett Brown, 1016 
S. Superior St; John Harris, 212 Dalrymple; Kevin White, 301 W. Erie St; 
Calhoun County Commissioner Gary Tompkins; Donnie Brewer, 919 N. Clinton 
St and Ms. Craig, 1200 Mallory St. 
 

XIV. CITY MANAGER REPORT 
 

Interim City Manager Kipp provided the following City Manager Report:  
 

 The Memorial Day parade will be held on Monday, May 27th, 2019 beginning 
at 10:00 a.m. at the corner of Erie and Superior Streets.  Parade line-up will 
be at 9:15 a.m.   If the Council would like to participate, please let Interim 
City Manager/Chief Kipp know. 

 

 Work is continuing on the River Trail 
 

XV. MAYOR AND COUNCIL MEMBER’S COMMENTS 
 

Comments were received from Council Members Clark, Brown, Lawler and 
Spicer and Mayor Atchison. 
 

XVI. EXCUSE ABSENT COUNCIL MEMBER (S) 
 

No action was necessary as all members were present. 
 

XVII. ROLL CALL 
 
PRESENT: Vicky Clark (1), Lenn Reid (2), Sonya Brown (3), Marcola Lawler 
(4), Jeanette Spicer (5), Shane Williamson (6) and Mayor Atchison.   

 
ABSENT: All members were present 

 
XVIII. ADJOURNMENT 



 

 

Page 7 of 7                                                                             Council minutes/5-20-2019 

 

  

 

 
Spicer moved, Clark supported, CARRIED, to adjourn the regular session. (7-0, 
vv) 
 

Mayor Atchison adjourned the Regular Session at 8:43 p.m. 
 
 
 
 

 
 
__________________    _________________________ 

Date      Jill Domingo   
        City Clerk 

 
 



 

 

Page 1 of 2                                                                             Special Council minutes/5-23-2019 

 

  

 

City of Albion 
Council Special Session Minutes  

May 23, 2019 

I. CALL TO ORDER 

Mayor Atchison called the regular meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 
 

II.  MOMENT OF SILENCE TO BE OBSERVED 
 
III.  PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 
IV.  ROLL CALL 

PRESENT: Vicky Clark (1), Lenn Reid (2); Sonya Brown (3); Marcola Lawler (4); 
Jeanette Spicer (5); Shane Williamson (6) and Mayor Atchison.   
 
ABSENT: All members were present 
 
STAFF PRESENT: 
 
Scott Kipp, Acting City Manager/Chief Public Safety; Cullen Harkness, City 
Attorney; Haley Snyder, Acting Assistant City Manager/Deputy Clerk/Treasurer  
 

V.  APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA (Includes any proposed additions, deletions or other 

changes to the agenda) 
 

Williamson moved, Lawler supported, CARRIED, to Approve the Agenda as 
presented. (7-0, vv) 

 

VI.   PRESENTATIONS-None 
 

VII.  PUBLIC HEARINGS-None  
   
VIII. PUBLIC Comments (Persons addressing the City Council shall limit their 

comments to agenda items and to no more than three (3) minutes.  Proper 
decorum is required.) 

 
Comments were received from Mary Lenardson, 1035 N. Clark Street, and G 
Brown, 1016 S. Superior. 
 

IX. CLOSED SESSION-None 

 

X.  CONSENT CALENDAR (VV) Items on the Consent Calendar are voted on as 
one unit) - None 

 



 

 

Page 2 of 2                                                                             Special Council minutes/5-23-2019 

 

  

 

XI.  ITEMS FOR INDIVIDUAL DISCUSSION 
A. Discussion/Approval MML City Manager Search-Joyce Parker 

 
 

XII. FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS-None 
 
XIII. PUBLIC COMMENTS (Persons addressing the City Council shall limit their 

comments to no more than three (3) minutes.  Proper decorum is required.) 
 
Comments were received from Mary Lenardson, 1035 N. Clark Street.  
 

XIV. CITY MANAGER REPORT-None 
 
XV. MAYOR AND COUNCIL MEMBER’S COMMENTS 
 

Comments were received from Councilmember Brown, Spicer, and Mayor 
Atchison. 
 

XVI. EXCUSE ABSENT COUNCIL MEMBER (S) 
 

No action was necessary as all members were present. 
 

XVII. ROLL CALL 
 
PRESENT: Vicky Clark (1), Lenn Reid (2), Sonya Brown (3), Marcola Lawler 
(4), Jeanette Spicer (5), Shane Williamson (6) and Mayor Atchison.   

 
ABSENT: All members were present 

 
XVIII. ADJOURNMENT 
 

Williamson moved, Clark supported, CARRIED, to adjourn the special session. 
(7-0, vv) 
 

Mayor Atchison adjourned the Regular Session at 7:43 p.m. 
 
 
__________________    _________________________ 

Date      Haley Snyder  
        Acting Assistant City  
        Manager/Deputy  

       Clerk/Treasurer 
 
 



1 
 

CITY OF ALBION 
ORDINANCE #2019-04 

 
AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND ORDINANCE 58-161, FIREWORKS 

 
Purpose and Finding: 

The Michigan Legislature enacted the Michigan Fireworks Safety Act, Act No. 
256 of the Public Acts of 2011, which took effect January 1, 2012.  This made 
substantial changes to previously existing state and local fireworks regulations. 
This Act was subsequently amended again in 2013. The Act was most recently 
amended by Public Act(s) 634 of 2018 and 635 of 2018. These new acts make 
several modifications to the dates that were regulated under the former 
legislation. Additionally, the new legislation modifies the existing fines imposed 
by municipalities. Presently, the Albion city ordinance regulating fireworks is in 
conflict with this newly enacted law.  As such, it is in the best interests of the City 
to amend its fireworks ordinance to comply with state law and to protect the 
health, safety and welfare of the citizens of the City of Albion. 

THE CITY OF ALBION ORDAINS: 

Sec. 58-161.  FIREWORKS 
 

1. An individual shall not ignite, discharge or use consumer fireworks except 
during the following days and times: 

 
a. December 31 from 11:00am to January 1 at 1:00am; 

 
b. The Saturday and Sunday immediately preceding Memorial Day 

from 11:00am to 11:45 pm on each of those days; 
 

c. June 29 from 11:00am to July 4 11:45pm on each of those days; 
 

d. July 5 from 11:00am to July 5 11:45pm, but only if July 5 falls on a 
Friday or a Saturday; 
 

e. The Saturday and Sunday immediately preceding Labor Day from 
11:00am to 11:45pm on each of those days. 

 
2. An individual shall not ignite, discharge, or use consumer fireworks on 

public property, school property, church property, or the property of 
another person without that organization's or property owner's express 
permission to use those fireworks on those premises; 
 

3. An individual shall not use consumer fireworks while under the influence of 
alcoholic liquor, a controlled substance, or a combination of alcoholic 



2 
 

liquor and a controlled substance; 
 

4. For purposes of this section, the term "consumer fireworks" is defined by 
Act No. 634 of the Michigan Public Acts of 2018. 
 

5. For purposes of this section, the term "Alcoholic liquor" is defined in 
section 1d of the Michigan Vehicle Code, 1949 PA 300, MCL 257.1d; 
 

6. For purposes of this section, the term "Controlled Substance" is defined in 
section 8b of the Michigan Vehicle Code, 1949 PA 300, MCL 257.8b; 

 
7. This Ordinance may be enforced by the Chief of Public Safety, Public 

Safety Officers, Code Enforcement Officials, Fire Marshal and Fire 
Inspectors; 
 

8. If an enforcing official has determined that a violation of this ordinance has 
occurred, the official may seize the fireworks as evidence of such 
violation; 
 

9. An individual who violates sub-section one (1) of this Ordinance is 
responsible for a civil infraction and shall be ordered to pay a civil fine of 
$1,000.00. $500.00 of the fine collected under this subsection shall be 
remitted to the Albion Department of Public Safety for enforcement of this 
ordinance; 
 

10. An individual who violates sub-section (2) of this Ordinance is responsible 
for a civil infraction and may be ordered to pay a civil fine of not more than 
$500.00.  
 

11. An individual who violates sub-section (3) of this Ordinance is responsible 
for a civil infraction and may be ordered to pay a civil fine of not more than 
$1,000.00. 

 
State Law Reference: MCL 28.457, MCL 28.462 
 
 
The provisions of this Ordinance are severable and the invalidity of any phrase, 
clause, or part of this Ordinance shall not affect the validity or effectiveness of the 
remainder of the Ordinance; 

 
All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed 
only to the extent necessary to give this Ordinance full force and effect. 

 
This Ordinance shall take effect on June 24, 2019 after publication. 
 



3 
 

First Reading:     Second Reading & Adoption: 
   
 
May 20, 2019     June 3, 2019    
 
Ayes _____      Ayes   _____   
Nays _____      Nays   _____ 
Absent_____      Absent_____ 
 
 
_________________________   _________________________ 
Jill Domingo,      David Atchison, 
Clerk       Mayor. 

































1 

 

City of Albion, Michigan 

Request for Proposals 

Residential Refuge Collection, Yard Waste Collection, Recycling, Hauling and Disposal 

 

 1.)     Introduction 

The City of Albion (the City) is soliciting proposals from qualified contractors for Residential 

Refuge Collection, Yard Waste Collection, Recycling, Hauling and Disposal from single family 

residences (a residence is defined as a premises containing a dwelling occupied by a person or 

group of persons comprising a single family unit and which produces not more than 90 gallons 

of refuse per week), duplex family residential units (defined as a premises containing a dwelling 

which had been divided into two separate residences, each occupied by a person or group of 

persons comprising a single family unit) and all City Buildings but excluding apartment 

buildings, multi-family complexes and commercial properties located within the City. 

For the purposes of the health, safety, welfare and the potential cost reduction for our 

residents the City Council has decided to enact the Single Refuge Hauler aspect as a viable 

alternative to the current system.  All single and dual family residential units will be required by 

local ordinance to participate in the Single Hauler Program. 

All bidders must submit a complete proposal which includes the form attached as Exhibit A, as 

well as a Statement of Bidders Qualifications, Documentation of Proper Insurance Policies and a 

list of references. 

RFP specifications can be picked up at the City Clerk’s Office 112 W. Cass St. Albion, MI 49224. 

All RFP’s shall be marked: “Single Hauler Refuge Program-BID” and shall be delivered to the 

City of Albion- Clerk’s Office by: September 7, 2016 at 9:00 A.M.  Public Bid opening will be 

September 7, 2016 at 9:00 A.M. in the Mayor’s Office located at Albion City Hall, 112 W. Cass 

St., Albion, MI 49224. 

 

2.)   General Information 

The City of Albion is located in eastern Calhoun County, Michigan.  It is estimated that there are 

approximately 2401 total residential units that would qualify under the program. There is 

approximately 50 miles of major and local streets within the City which includes M-99 and the I-

94 business route. The residential refuse to be collected, hauled and disposed of by the 

successful bidder consists of normal household rubbish, garbage, yard waste and recycled 

materials. 



2 

 

As a condition of the local ordinance, residents would not be allowed to contract with another 

waste hauler outside of the successful bidder’s agreement. Recycling containers shall be 

provided for those residents who request them and shall be hauled and disposed of as a matter 

of contract.                                                     

 

Services are anticipated to begin in April of 2017, however the actual start date will be 

established by the contract between the City and the successful bidder. The initial contract will 

be for a one year term with the anticipation of a continuation of up to three years. 

The form of the contract to be entered into between the City and the successful bidder, which 

contains all terms and conditions for providing the Services, is attached as Exhibit B.  

The RFP is a solicitation for bids and not intended as an offer to contract.  The City of Albion 

reserves the right to issue clarification(s) and other directives concerning this RFP, to require 

clarification or further information with respect to any Proposal and to determine the final 

terms of the contract. The City also reserves the right to accept or reject any and all Proposals 

in the best interest of the City and its residents.  Acceptance of the Proposal will be based upon 

factors including, but not limited to, cost to provide the Services, completeness of Proposal, 

thoroughness of information provided, customer service standards, value-added services and 

prior Bidder performance with waste collection systems similar to those described herein. 

All Proposals are firm offers to enter into the Contract and no Proposal shall be deemed 

rejected, notwithstanding acceptance of any other Proposal, until the Contract has been 

approved by the City Council and executed by both the City and the Successful Bidder. 

 

3.) Scope of Services 

A.    The Services to be provided by the Successful Bidder for the per unit prices to be indicated 

on Exhibit A include the following: 

 (1) collecting, hauling and disposing of Residential Refuse from dwelling units and City Buildings 

located within the City once per week. 

(2) collecting, hauling and disposing of Residential Refuse from dwelling units and all City 

Operated Buildings, curbside collection of recyclable materials, and yard waste from dwellings 

within the City of Albion.  Collection of Recyclables shall be the same day as the collection of 

Residential Refuse and shall occur either once per week or bi-weekly. The collection of yard 

waste shall also occur the same day as Residential Refuse and Recyclable pick-up, but may 

occur monthly or seasonal.  The Bidder’s Proposal shall include a separate price for once per 

week Residential Refuse pick-up and once a week Residential Refuse pick-up with the addition 

of weekly or bi-weekly Recyclable pick-up and monthly and seasonal yard waste pick-up. 



3 

 

(3) collecting , hauling and disposal of Solid Waste, Rubbish, building materials and Garbage of 

all City Operated Buildings from approved dumpsters (to be provided by the Successful Bidder) 

can occur independently of the Residential Refuse pick-up schedule. The City currently has six 

(6) dumpsters, (3) 6 yard dumpsters, (3) 4 yard dumpsters and (6) 96 gallon carts.    

 

(4) billing and collection of all rates and charges from dwelling units receiving the Service on a 

quarterly basis. 

B.    Dispose of all Residential Refuse collected in accordance with the Calhoun County Solid 

Waste Management Plan, at a facility within the Calhoun County Solid Waste Management Plan 

and permitted by the Michigan Department of Environmental Quality. 

 

C.    Provide separate, hard sided, plastic containers for the collection and temporary storage of 

Residential Refuge and Recyclables (an Approved Container).  The Approved Container for 

Residential Refuge shall have an attached, closing lid.  It shall also have upon it the Company 

Name of the Successful Bidder and an “800” or local number for contact.   

(1) The Successful Bidder shall provide at least two (2) sizes of Approved Containers in order to 

provide customers with a choice depending on the customers expected volume of Residential 

Refuse to be collected.  The two (2) sizes of Approved Containers for collection and disposal of 

Residential Refuse to be provided by the Successful Bidder shall be for Approved Containers 

ranging between 60-65 gallons and 90-96 gallons in size. 

(2) The Bidder’s Proposal shall include the cost of each of the two (2) ranges of size for the 

Approved Containers for Residential Refuse. 

(3) The Approved Container for the collection and disposal of Recyclables shall have a minimum 

of 18 gallons. 

(4) The Bidder’s Proposal shall also include the cost for “back door” service for the elderly or 

the physically disabled. 

D.   The Successful Bidder shall provide the Services to all participating Dwelling units between 

the hours of 7:00 A.M. and 7:00 P.M. on Tuesday, Wednesday or Thursday of each week, 

contingent upon the approval of a specific day of the week for collection by the City Council 

(Collection Day).  The Successful Bidder may not change the Collection Day, except when there 

is a legal holiday, without the approval of the City.  If the City approves a change in the 

Collection Day, the Successful Bidder, at its cost, must provide notice of the change in the 

Collection Day to all of the Dwelling Units.  In the event that there is a legal Holiday on the 

Collection Day, the Successful Bidder shall collect the Residential Refuse and Recyclables and 

Yard Waste on the following day, excluding Sunday.  Legal Holiday shall be New Year’s Day, 

Memorial Day, Fourth of July, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day. 



4 

 

E. The Successful Bidder shall maintain an office and toll-free or local telephone number to 

receive service calls and complaints and be available for such calls between 8:00 A.M. and 5:00 

P.M. Monday through Friday, except on the holiday’s listed in 3 (D) above. All complaints must 

be given prompt attention. In the case of a missed scheduled collection, the Successful Bidder 

shall immediately investigate, and if verified, shall arrange for pick-up of said Residential Refuse 

within twenty-four (24) hours after the complaint is received.  The Successful Bidder shall 

maintain a daily log of all such calls and complaints, which shall be open to the City for 

inspection and shall make annual reports regarding the same to the City. 

F. The Successful Bidder shall develop, print and distribute a brochure describing the services 

covered by this RFP, which includes a collection schedule, a list of materials that can be 

included in the Approved Container for Recyclables, instructions on proper handling of the 

Approved Containers, instructions on what the customers are to do with Residential Refuse 

that does not fit into the Approved Container, etc.  The brochure must be approved by the City  

prior to distribution. Whenever there is a change in services, an updated brochure must be 

distributed to all existing customers. 

G. Dispose of the Recyclables collected pursuant to the Contract in accordance with the 

Calhoun County Solid Waste Management Plan. 

H. Ensure that the Successful Bidder’s trucks and equipment is adequately marked with the 

name of the company, the telephone number and any other markings required by state or 

federal law. 

I. Make an initial, accurate count, by individual street address or area, during the first month of 

service under the Contract, of all Dwelling Units to be serviced under terms of the Contract.  

Annually, the Successful Bidder must provide an updated listing of the number of Dwelling 

Units receiving the Services.  This count shall be provided to the City within five (5) business 

days after the mailing of the quarterly bills to customers in the City. 

J. Comply with all rules and regulations established by local, state and federal laws.  The 

Successful Bidder shall be responsible for obtaining all permits, licenses and insurance to 

provide the Services. 

K. Provide all Services in an orderly, efficient and workmanlike manner, with a workforce 

adequate to accomplish the same on a regular basis, despite adverse conditions, equipment 

breakdown or similar hindrances. 

 

4.) Additional Services 

The Bidder shall include a separate Proposal price for additional services that may be proposed 

by the Bidder, which may include, but are not limited to, collection, hauling and disposal of (1) 

materials, debris and solid wastes as part of an annual “Spring Clean-up” (as more particularly 



5 

 

described below), (2) Bulk Waste, and (3) Special Collections (collectively the “Additional 

Services”).  The Bidder’s Proposal shall include a separate per annum price for providing the 

annual “Spring Clean-Up” which is held at two collection sites in the City where there are two 

(2) Refuse hauling trucks and one (1) 30 yard roll-off provided at each site.  The annual “Spring 

Clean-up” event will take place during a month and on a date designated by the City Council. 

Along with this Bidder’s shall include pricing for three (3) twenty (20) yard dumpsters for the 

annual “Festival of the Forks” event. 

The City reserves the right to accept all, some or none of the Additional Services by Bidder in 

the City’s sole discretion. 

 

5.)  Pre-Bid Conference 

The City will conduct a pre-bid conference on August 15, 2016 at 9:00 A.M. in the Mayor’s 

Office located at 112 W. Cass St. Albion, MI 49224 to answer questions regarding this RFP.  

Nothing stated at the pre-bid conference shall modify any written document, unless a written 

addendum is issued.  Bidders are required to submit all written questions to the City, Attention: 

Jim Lenardson, Director of Public Services, by August 8, 2016 to ensure that all questions can be 

adequately addressed at the pre-bid conference. 

6.)  Qualifications of Bidder  

A. All Bidders must submit the following to the City in order to be deemed qualified and 

responsible: 

(1) The original completed Proposal, including all exhibits thereto, delivered to the City Clerk at 

112 W. Cass St., Albion, MI 49224 by the specified time set forth in Section 1 of this RFP.  All 

Proposals must be typed or written legibly in blue or black ink.  All Proposals shall use the form 

attached as Exhibit A.  The Proposal form must indicate a fixed price quotation for each quarter 

and for each individual year of the Contract for the Service being bid, as well as Additional 

Services and any alternatives.  A Proposal may be rejected if it does not contain a requested 

rate or charge for each and every item named in the Proposal form or may be interpreted as 

bidding “no charge” for any item left blank. 

(2) Bid Security in the form of a certified check or money order in the amount of $5,000.00, 

which shall be refunded or returned to those Bidders who are not the Successful Bidder within 

five (5) days after the City Council executes the Contract for Services with the Successful Bidder.  

If the Successful Bidder fails to timely submit all additional information as requested, the City 

may retain all or a portion of the Successful Bidders Bid Security as liquidated damages. 

(3) Each Bidder submitting a Proposal expressly represents and warrants that it has an 

adequate period of time to conduct, and has conducted, all independent examinations, 

inspections and investigations required to make a fully informed Bid. 



6 

 

(4) Each Bidder acknowledges that it has reviewed the Contract Documents in a thorough and 

complete manner prior to submitting its Proposal. 

(5) Each Proposal shall include the cost of obtaining all permits, licenses and other 

authorizations required by law for performance of the Services. Each Bidder shall be 

responsible for determining the applicable licenses, permits and other authorizations required. 

(6) Each Proposal shall be signed by the authorized officer, member or partner of the entity or 

by an individual, if the Proposal is submitted by an individual. 

(7) Each Bidder shall furnish satisfactory evidence that it has the requisite experience, ability, 

capital facilities, organization and staffing to enable it to perform the Services successfully. All 

Bidders are required to complete the Statement of Bidder’s Qualifications, and attach as Exhibit 

C. 

(8) Each Bidder shall submit a properly executed and signed Affidavit of Non-Collusion as 

Exhibit D 

If the City issues a request for Additional Information, the Bidder shall provide such information 

within two (2) business days after the receipt of the Request for Additional Information or such 

other period as may be set forth therein.  Any Bidder that fails to respond to the Request for 

Additional Information within the allotted time shall have its Proposal deemed incomplete and 

non-responsive. 

The items set forth above are the minimum qualifications that a Bidder must fulfill. However, 

exemptions to any condition may be submitted as alternatives. 

7. Withdrawal of Bid Proposal 

Any Proposal may be withdrawn at any time prior to the opening of any Proposals, provided 

that such a written request executed by the Bidder is filed with the City. The withdrawal of a 

Proposal prior to the opening of any Proposals will not prejudice the right of the Bidder to file a 

new Proposal, so long as such new Proposal is submitted prior to the due date and time of the 

Proposals. 

8. Award of Contract 

All Proposals shall be publically opened and read aloud immediately upon the close of the 

bidding. 

All prices set forth in a Proposal shall be held firm, open and capable of acceptance for 120 

calendar days from the date Proposals are due as set forth above. 

The City Council shall award the Contract(s) to the lowest Bidder who, in discretion of the City, 

is best qualified to perform the Services to the satisfaction of the City and will best accomplish 

the objectives of the City. The City reserves the right to reject any and all Proposals, to reject 



7 

 

any Proposal not complying with the specifications set forth in the RFP or the Contract 

Documents, to accept all or a portion of any Proposal, and to waive any informality in any 

Proposal if the City such waiver to be in its best interests. Any computational errors in the 

Proposal may be waived by the City if it deems such waiver in its best interests. 

Upon award of a Contract by the City Council, the City shall prepare a notice of award. The 

successful Bidder shall enter into the Contract with the City for the Services described herein, in 

the form to be attached as Exhibit B. The Successful Bidder shall execute said Contract within 

fourteen (14) calendar days after notice from the City of the award of the Contract. 

As noted in Section 4 of this RFP, the City reserves the right to accept all, some or none of the 

Additional Services specified in the Bidder’s proposal in the City’s sole discretion. 

At the time of execution of the Contract, the Successful Bidder shall post a performance bond 

with a corporate surety authorized to do business in Michigan and acceptable to the City, in an 

amount calculated as set forth in the Contract. Said performance bond shall indemnify the City 

against any loss resulting from any breach or failure of the performance by the Successful 

Bidder. Upon verification of this performance bond, the City shall refund the Successful Bidder’s 

Bid Security. 

Once awarded the Contract, the Successful Bidder shall provide, at its own expense, the 

following types of coverage of insurance: 

A. workers’ compensation insurance in the statutorily required amounts; and  

B. comprehensive general liability insurance with limits of $1,000.000.00 each occurrence and  

$ 2,000,000.00 in aggregate; and 

C. vehicle liability insurance with a combined single limit of $1,000.000.00. 

All such insurance policies and coverages shall be from an insurer acceptable to the City. The 

City, its officers and employees, shall be named as additional insured with respect to each of 

these required policies. The certificates shall contain the following statement: 

     “This is to certify that the policies of insurance described herein have been issued to the 

insured for whom this certificate is executed and are in force at this time.  In the event of 

cancellation or material change in policy affecting the certificate holder, thirty (30) days prior 

written notice will be given to the City of Albion.” 

If the Successful Bidder fails to execute a Contract within this time period, sign any other 

required documentation, post the required bond or submit the required certificates or policies 

of insurance, the City shall have the right to annul the award of the Contract and impose 

liquidated damages on the Successful Bidder.  If the award is annulled, the City may accept and 

award a Contract based upon the other Proposals remaining, as the City, in its discretion, 



8 

 

deems to be in the best interest or may reject all Proposals and choose not to proceed with the 

program. 

The Successful Bidder shall indemnify the City of Albion, and its officers and employees, against 

any and all damages to property or death of any persons or person, including property and 

employees, agents or invitees of the City of Albion and shall defend and indemnify the City of 

Albion from all and any claims, demands, action or proceedings of any kind or nature, or by 

anyone whatsoever, including but not limited to costs, expenses, and attorney fees, resulting 

from or arising out of the Successful Bidder’s performance under the terms of this RFP and 

Contract and the operations connected herewith, including all operations of subcontractors, if 

any, and actions or omissions of employees or agents of the Successful Bidder.  The Successful 

Bidder’s insurance shall include contractual coverage of the forgoing indemnity agreement. 

The Successful Bidder shall not discriminate against an employee or applicant for employment 

with respect to hire, tenure, terms, conditions or privileges of employment, or a matter 

indirectly or directly related to employment because of race, color, religion, national origin, 

age, sex, disability that is unrelated to the individuals ability to perform the duties of a 

particular job or position, height, weight or marital status.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



9 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



STATE OF MICHIGAN
100TH LEGISLATURE

REGULAR SESSION OF 2019

Introduced by Senators Outman, Wojno, Johnson, Daley, Victory, Moss and Polehanki

ENROLLED SENATE BILL No. 106
AN ACT to amend 1915 PA 31, entitled “An act to prohibit the selling, giving, or furnishing of tobacco products to 

minors; to prohibit the purchase, possession, or use of tobacco products by minors; to regulate the retail sale of tobacco 
products; to prescribe penalties; and to prescribe the powers and duties of certain state agencies and departments,” by 
amending the title and sections 1, 2, and 4 (MCL 722.641, 722.642, and 722.644), as amended by 2006 PA 236.

The People of the State of Michigan enact:

TITLE

An act to prohibit the selling, giving, or furnishing of tobacco products, vapor products, and alternative nicotine 
products to minors; to prohibit the purchase, possession, or use of tobacco products, vapor products, and alternative 
nicotine products by minors; to regulate the retail sale of tobacco products, vapor products, alternative nicotine products, 
and liquid nicotine containers; to prescribe penalties; and to prescribe the powers and duties of certain state agencies 
and departments.

Sec. 1. (1) A person shall not sell, give, or furnish a tobacco product, vapor product, or alternative nicotine product 
to a minor, including, but not limited to, through a vending machine. A person who violates this subsection or 
subsection (8) is guilty of a misdemeanor punishable by a fine as follows:

(a) For a first offense, not more than $100.00.

(b) For a second offense, not more than $500.00.

(c) For a third or subsequent offense, not more than $2,500.00.

(2) A person who sells tobacco products, vapor products, or alternative nicotine products at retail shall post, in a 
place close to the point of sale and conspicuous to both employees and customers, a sign produced by the department of 
health and human services that includes the following statement:

“The purchase of a tobacco product, vapor product, or alternative nicotine product by a minor under 18 years of age 
and the provision of a tobacco product, vapor product, or alternative nicotine product to a minor are prohibited by law. 
A minor who unlawfully purchases or uses a tobacco product, vapor product, or alternative nicotine product is subject 
to criminal penalties.”.

(3) If the sign required under subsection (2) is more than 6 feet from the point of sale, it must be 5-1/2 inches by 
8-1/2 inches and the statement required under subsection (2) must be printed in 36-point boldfaced type. If the sign 
required under subsection (2) is 6 feet or less from the point of sale, it must be 2 inches by 4 inches and the statement 
required under subsection (2) must be printed in 20-point boldfaced type.

(4) The department of health and human services shall produce the sign required under subsection (2) and have 
adequate copies of the sign ready for distribution to licensed wholesalers, secondary wholesalers, and unclassified 

(7)



2

acquirers of tobacco products and to persons who sell vapor products or alternative nicotine products at retail free of 
charge. Licensed wholesalers, secondary wholesalers, and unclassified acquirers of tobacco products shall obtain copies 
of the sign from the department of health and human services and distribute them free of charge, upon request, to 
persons who sell tobacco products and who are subject to subsection (2). The department of health and human services 
shall provide copies of the sign free of charge, upon request, to persons subject to subsection (2) who do not purchase 
their supply of tobacco products from wholesalers, secondary wholesalers, and unclassified acquirers of tobacco products 
licensed under the tobacco products tax act, 1993 PA 327, MCL 205.421 to 205.436, and to persons who sell vapor 
products or alternative nicotine products at retail.

(5) It is an affirmative defense to a charge under subsection (1) that the defendant had in force at the time of arrest 
and continues to have in force a written policy to prevent the sale of tobacco products, vapor products, or alternative 
nicotine products, as applicable, to persons under 18 years of age and that the defendant enforced and continues to 
enforce the policy. A defendant who proposes to offer evidence of the affirmative defense described in this subsection 
shall file notice of the defense, in writing, with the court and serve a copy of the notice on the prosecuting attorney. The 
defendant shall serve the notice not less than 14 days before the date set for trial.

(6) A prosecuting attorney who proposes to offer testimony to rebut the affirmative defense described in subsection (5) 
shall file a notice of rebuttal, in writing, with the court and serve a copy of the notice on the defendant. The prosecuting 
attorney shall serve the notice not less than 7 days before the date set for trial and shall include in the notice the name 
and address of each rebuttal witness.

(7) Subsection (1) does not apply to the handling or transportation of a tobacco product, vapor product, or alternative 
nicotine product by a minor under the terms of the minor’s employment.

(8) Before selling, offering for sale, giving, or furnishing a tobacco product, vapor product, or alternative nicotine 
product to an individual, a person shall verify that the individual is at least 18 years of age by doing 1 of the following:

(a) If the individual appears to be under 27 years of age, examining a government-issued photographic identification 
that establishes that the individual is at least 18 years of age.

(b) For sales made by the internet or other remote sales method, performing an age verification through an 
independent, third-party age verification service that compares information available from a commercially available 
database, or aggregate of databases, that are regularly used by government agencies and businesses for the purpose of 
age and identity verification to the personal information entered by the individual during the ordering process that 
establishes that the individual is 18 years of age or older.

Sec. 2. (1) Subject to subsection (6), a minor shall not do any of the following:

(a) Purchase or attempt to purchase a tobacco product.

(b) Possess or attempt to possess a tobacco product.

(c) Use a tobacco product in a public place.

(d) Present or offer to an individual a purported proof of age that is false, fraudulent, or not actually his or her own 
proof of age for the purpose of purchasing, attempting to purchase, possessing, or attempting to possess a tobacco 
product.

(2) An individual who violates subsection (1) is guilty of a misdemeanor punishable by a fine of not more than $50.00 
for each violation. Pursuant to a probation order, the court may also require an individual who violates subsection (1) to 
participate in a health promotion and risk reduction assessment program, if available. In addition, an individual who 
violates subsection (1) is subject to the following:

(a) For the first violation, the court may order the individual to do 1 of the following:

(i) Perform not more than 16 hours of community service.

(ii) Participate in a health promotion and risk reduction assessment program.

(b) For a second violation, in addition to participation in a health promotion and risk reduction assessment program, 
the court may order the individual to perform not more than 32 hours of community service.

(c) For a third or subsequent violation, in addition to participation in a health promotion and risk reduction assessment 
program, the court may order the individual to perform not more than 48 hours of community service.

(3) Subject to subsection (6), a minor shall not do any of the following:

(a) Purchase or attempt to purchase a vapor product or alternative nicotine product.

(b) Possess or attempt to possess a vapor product or alternative nicotine product.

(c) Use a vapor product or alternative nicotine product in a public place.

(d) Present or offer to an individual a purported proof of age that is false, fraudulent, or not actually his or her own 
proof of age for the purpose of purchasing, attempting to purchase, possessing, or attempting to possess a vapor product 
or alternative nicotine product.



3

(4) An individual who violates subsection (3) is responsible for a state civil infraction or guilty of a misdemeanor as 
follows:

(a) For the first violation, the individual is responsible for a state civil infraction and shall be fined not more than 
$50.00. The court may order the individual to participate in a health promotion and risk reduction assessment program, 
if available. In addition, the court may order the individual to perform not more than 16 hours of community service.

(b) For the second violation, the individual is responsible for a state civil infraction and shall be fined not more than 
$50.00. The court may order the individual to participate in a health promotion and risk reduction assessment program, 
if available. In addition, the court may order the individual to perform not more than 32 hours of community service.

(c) If a violation of subsection (3) occurs after 2 or more prior judgments, the individual is guilty of a misdemeanor 
punishable by a fine of not more than $50.00 for each violation. Pursuant to a probation order, the court may also require 
the individual to participate in a health promotion and risk reduction assessment program, if available. In addition, the 
court may order the individual to perform not more than 48 hours of community service.

(5) An individual who is ordered to participate in a health promotion and risk reduction assessment program under 
subsection (2) or (4) is responsible for the costs of participating in the program.

(6) Subsections (1) and (3) do not apply to a minor participating in any of the following:

(a) An undercover operation in which the minor purchases or receives a tobacco product, vapor product, or alternative 
nicotine product under the direction of the minor’s employer and with the prior approval of the local prosecutor’s office 
as part of an employer-sponsored internal enforcement action.

(b) An undercover operation in which the minor purchases or receives a tobacco product, vapor product, or alternative 
nicotine product under the direction of the state police or a local police agency as part of an enforcement action, unless 
the initial or contemporaneous purchase or receipt of the tobacco product, vapor product, or alternative nicotine product 
by the minor was not under the direction of the state police or the local police agency and was not part of the undercover 
operation.

(c) Compliance checks in which the minor attempts to purchase tobacco products for the purpose of satisfying federal 
substance abuse block grant youth tobacco access requirements, if the compliance checks are conducted under the 
direction of a substance use disorder coordinating agency and with the prior approval of the state police or a local police 
agency.

(7) Subsections (1) and (3) do not apply to the handling or transportation of a tobacco product, vapor product, or 
alternative nicotine product by a minor under the terms of the minor’s employment.

(8) This section does not prohibit an individual from being charged with, convicted of, or sentenced for any other 
violation of law that arises out of the violation of subsection (1) or (3).

Sec. 4. As used in this act:

(a) “Alternative nicotine product” means a noncombustible product containing nicotine that is intended for human 
consumption, whether chewed, absorbed, dissolved, or ingested by any other means. Alternative nicotine product does 
not include a tobacco product, a vapor product, food, or a product regulated as a drug or device by the United States 
Food and Drug Administration under 21 USC 351 to 360fff-7.

(b) “Minor” means an individual who is less than 18 years of age.

(c) “Person who sells vapor products or alternative nicotine products at retail” means a person whose ordinary 
course of business consists, in whole or in part, of the retail sale of vapor products or alternative nicotine products.

(d) “Person who sells tobacco products at retail” means a person whose ordinary course of business consists, in whole 
or in part, of the retail sale of tobacco products subject to state sales tax.

(e) “Public place” means a public street, sidewalk, or park or any area open to the general public in a publicly owned 
or operated building or public place of business.

(f) “Tobacco product” means a product that contains tobacco and is intended for human consumption, including, but 
not limited to, a cigarette, noncigarette smoking tobacco, or smokeless tobacco, as those terms are defined in section 2 
of the tobacco products tax act, 1993 PA 327, MCL 205.422, and a cigar.

(g) “Use a tobacco product, vapor product, or alternative nicotine product” means to smoke, chew, suck, inhale, or 
otherwise consume a tobacco product, vapor product, or alternative nicotine product.

(h) “Vapor product” means a noncombustible product that employs a heating element, power source, electronic 
circuit, or other electronic, chemical, or mechanical means, regardless of shape or size, that can be used to produce vapor 
from nicotine or any other substance, and the use or inhalation of which simulates smoking. Vapor product includes an 
electronic cigarette, electronic cigar, electronic cigarillo, electronic pipe, or similar product or device and a vapor 
cartridge or other container of nicotine or other substance in a solution or other form that is intended to be used with 
or in an electronic cigarette, electronic cigar, electronic cigarillo, electronic pipe, or similar product or device. Vapor 
product does not include a product regulated as a drug or device by the United States Food and Drug Administration 
under 21 USC 351 to 360fff-7.



4

Enacting section 1. This amendatory act takes effect 90 days after the date it is enacted into law.

Enacting section 2. This amendatory act does not take effect unless Senate Bill No. 155 of the 100th Legislature is 
enacted into law.

This act is ordered to take immediate effect.

Secretary of the Senate

Clerk of the House of Representatives

Approved

Governor



RESOLUTION #2019-22 

A RESOLUTION TO SUPPORT THE “TRANSFORMING ALBION” PROJECT, UNDER A HUD ‘CHOICE 

NEIGHBORHOODS’ GRANT APPLICATION; AUTHORIZING TO ENTER INTO A MEMORANDUM OF 

UNDERSTANDING WITH MICHIGAN STATE UNIVERSITY’S SCHOOL OF PLANNING, DESIGN AND 

CONSTRUCTION FOR THE GRANT ACTIVITIES; AND AUTHORIZING A FIRM COMMITMENT OF LOCAL 

CASH CONTRIBUTION TO THE PLANNING PHASE OF “TRANSFORMING ALBION.” 

 

 Background: The three pillars of the ‘Choice Neighborhoods’ planning grant program, made available 

by the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development are based on 1) People 2) Housing and 3) 

Neighborhoods. The mission of the “Transforming Albion” Project is to develop strategies that will 

enhance access to health, education, transportation, employment, crime-free communities, 

recreational activities and designs that promote the well-being of its residents. In coordination with 

the City of Albion and the Albion Housing Commission, Michigan State University’s School of Planning, 

Design and Construction will co-lead the planning and activities of the “Transformation Plan” alongside 

Albion residents and leaders. The “Transformation Plan” is a participatory planning process that will 

culminate in the development of a plan for three Albion neighborhoods (Precincts 1, 2 & 3) with goals 

pertaining to housing, people and neighborhoods. Residents of all ages, abilities and backgrounds will 

be the driving force behind this project mainly through unique engagement activities such as ‘strategic 

doing,” charrette design and engagement meetings, learning opportunities and other civic engagement 

activities over a multi-year span. Early conversations with neighborhood residents indicate interest in 

potential grant ‘Action Activities’ revolving around youth activities, transportation options, and 

neighborhood design that improves personal safety. In addition to this Resolution, a Memorandum of 

Understanding between the City of Albion and Michigan State University’s School of Planning, Design 

and Construction sets out the principles that will guide the activities of the grant, if funded: A 3 ½ year 

project for $1.3 million that encompasses both planning and action items within Albion’s Precincts 1, 

2 & 3. Since the work proposed within this grant application aligns with Albion’s adopted 

Comprehensive Plan, support for this process is being requested in the form of local contribution. 

Approval for this grant submission is provided within this resolution and local contribution cash match 

is provided in the amount of seventeen thousand five hundred dollars ($17,500) from the City of Albion 

over three years.   Administrative staff recommends city approval of the Memorandum of 

Understanding, a local three-year contribution amount totaling $17,500.00 in its support of the 

“Transformation Plan” planning process.  

 

The above financial contribution will be explicitly committed by the City of Albion to MSU (Lead 

Applicant) for a multi-day National Charrette Institute (NCI) design charrette to develop a vision for the 

three target neighborhoods that will focus on Housing, People, and Neighborhoods. This phase of the 

planning effort is described more fully in the HUD grant application’s Exhibit E. Soundness of Approach: 

During the charrette, input from residents, youth, seniors, businesses, veterans, LGBTQ organizations, 

faith-based and civic organizations will drive the resulting vision document that will be the foundation 

for the Transformation Plan. The Transforming Albion team will utilize MSU faculty and students for 

data collection, summaries, meeting facilitation and designs. Albion College and other interested 

academic institutions will provide various assistance with the charrette process as well. The major final 

output will include 1) a sub-area master plan for the three target neighborhoods with proposed land 

use plans and detailed design alternatives for the existing and/or vacant lots in the study area for future 

development; 2) a connectivity plan considering multi-modal transportation modes (e.g. walking and 



biking, transit network); 3) a low impact development plan to enhance community and environmental 

resiliency; and 4) walkable/bikeable streetscapes design with wayfinding systems and public safety 

components within the rights-of-way. 

 

WHEREAS the Albion City Council hereby supports the “Transforming Albion” project under a HUD Choice 

Neighborhoods Planning and Action grant application and supports entering into a partnership between 

the City of Albion, the Albion Housing Commission, Michigan State University’s School of Planning, Design 

and Construction; and 

WHEREAS the Albion City Council shall not seek through this grant process, to reduce the overall number 

of public housing units presently available in the City; and 

 WHEREAS any members of the Committees formed for the implementation of the activities funded under 

this grant shall be appointed to said committees by the City Council in the same manner as other board 

appointments;  

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City of Albion hereby authorizes a local cash contribution to be 

explicitly committed to the lead applicant (MSU) for a multi-day neighborhood charrette planning process 

which will serve as the basis for the “Transforming Albion” plan, in the amount of Seventeen Thousand 

Five Hundred ($17,500) Dollars over the next three years, if funded by HUD, in addition to the provision 

of staff time and resources; and  

THEREFORE, BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Albion Mayor and City Manager are authorized to sign 

documents related to the HUD Choice Neighborhoods grant application.  

 

Date: June 3, 2019 

Ayes: _____ 

Nays:_____ 

Absent:_____ 

 

I certify that this resolution was adopted by the City Council of the City of Albion on June 3, 2019. 

 

____________________________________ 

Jill Domingo 

City Clerk 


	2                               5-20-2019 Council Minutes.pdf (p.3-9)
	3                               5-23-2019 Special Council Minutes.pdf (p.10-11)
	4                                  Ordinance 2019-04.pdf (p.12-14)
	5                                       Granger Services for Residential Solid Waste Yard Waste.pdf (p.15-24)
	6                                     Signed Granger Addendum.pdf (p.25-29)
	7                                         2016 Single Hauler RFP rev  7 5 2016.pdf (p.30-38)
	8                                                2019-SNB-0106.pdf (p.39-42)
	9                                              Resolution 2019-22 To Support HUD Grant Application.pdf (p.43-44)

